IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Case No. 70583

Consolidated With Case No. 71789

WYNN LAS VEGAS, LLC DBA WYNN LAS VEGAS,
Nevada Limited Liability Company

Electronically Filed
Sep 14 2018 02:37 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

v.

YVONNE O'CONNELL, an Individual,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

Appeal from Judgment on Jury Verdict entered December 15, 2015, and Order Denying Post-Trial Motions entered May 25, 2016, and all orders made appealable thereby
District Court Case No. A-12-671221-C, Eighth Judicial District Court of Nevada

**APPELLANT/CROSS-RESPONDENT'S
PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE SUPREME COURT**

SEMENZA KIRCHER RICKARD

INTRODUCTION

This Petition presents a question of first impression and seeks clarification on the standard, and evidentiary burden, for constructive notice. *See* NRAP 40B(a). Additionally, it challenges findings by the Court of Appeals regarding constructive notice, and causation, that conflict with prior rulings of this Court. *Id.*

The underlying appeal centers on a slip and fall case. Respondent/Cross-Appellant Yvonne O'Connell ("O'Connell") sued Appellant/Cross-Respondent Wynn Las Vegas, LLC ("Wynn") for negligence after she fell on a foreign substance while walking on Wynn's floor. At trial, O'Connell conceded she lacked evidence that Wynn had actual knowledge of the substance. Moreover, O'Connell admitted that she lacked any evidence that the substance was a recurrent or continuous condition at Wynn. In fact, she had no idea how long the substance had been on Wynn's floor, where it came from, or what it even was.

In *Sprague v. Lucky Stores*, this Court set the standard for constructive notice. As the Court ruled, "[t]he owner or occupant of property is not an insurer of the safety of a person on the premises, and in the absence of negligence, no liability lies." 109 Nev. 247, 250, 849 P.2d 320, 322 (1993). Thus, for constructive notice to apply, a jury must be provided sufficient evidence to find that an owner or

occupier "knew that [the condition] was *frequently* ... [or] ... *virtually continual* [on the floor]" 109 Nev. at 251, 849 P.2d at 323 (emphasis added).

Despite the clarity of *Sprague*, and O'Connell's failure to provide any evidence of a *frequent* or *continual* condition, the District Court denied Wynn's motions for judgment as a matter of law. Citing a standard of constructive notice that has never been adopted by this Court, the District Court invited the jury to consider any evidence demonstrating how long the condition was present on Wynn's floor, regardless of its frequency or persistence. While the District Court's expansion of *Sprague* ran contrary to precedence, more important for purposes of this appeal is the fact that O'Connell failed to meet the Court's invitation to provide *any* such evidence. Indeed, entirely absent from O'Connell's case is *any* proof of how long the foreign substance sat on Wynn's floor before O'Connell's fall.

Upholding the District Court's denials of judgment as a matter of law, a majority of the Court of Appeals (the "Majority") summarily concluded that the question of constructive notice "is an issue for the trier of fact." (Ex. 1 hereto at pg. 4.) However, missing from the Majority's analysis is any explanation about why it did not hold O'Connell to the "frequent" or "virtually continual" standard set forth in *Sprague* or how, even assuming the specific limitations of *Sprague* are not binding, O'Connell could have possibly met her burden to demonstrate constructive notice

given that she failed to provide *any* evidence demonstrating how long the foreign substance was on the floor.

Citing only a casino security case, and a case law describing the "open and obvious" *defense* doctrine, the Majority summarily concluded that "constructive notice can be based on the *circumstances* of the case." *Id.* at pg. 3. However, the Majority failed to explain whether, or how, it was rejecting the universally-accepted legal precedent that such "circumstances" must include evidence of duration. Indeed, in finding that "there was sufficient evidence that the substance had been on the floor for a *certain* length of time," the Majority confirms that the jury was forced to just guess about what this length of time could have been. *Id.* at pg. 5 (emphasis added).

As Judge Tao thoroughly articulated in his dissenting opinion (the "Dissent"), the Majority's findings impose a strict liability standard on Wynn. The obvious failure in O'Connell's case is that she "presented *no evidence at all* providing the jury with any foundation" to determine whether Wynn acted reasonably and, as such, did "nothing more than invit[e] the jury to take a guess." *Id.* at pg. 21 (emphasis added). As the Dissent explains, "[i]f the Wynn can be found liable for what happened here based upon a record this flimsy, then *Sprague* is no longer good law." *Id.* Thus, the question for the Court is this: "We generally defer to jury verdicts, even when the

jury makes a mountain out of a molehill. But do we defer to juries when their verdict makes a mountain out of nothing at all?" *Id.* at pgs. 13-14.

Additionally, as Wynn demonstrates in its appeal, O'Connell's shortfall does not end with notice. Rather, it extends to the mandatory elements of causation and damages as well. O'Connell's only damages at trial were for past and future pain and suffering. The undisputed testimony proved that O'Connell suffers from various preexisting conditions and suffered from a subsequent fall. Yet, O'Connell knowingly made no effort to distinguish between her pain and suffering from the fall, her pain and suffering caused by her preexisting injuries, and her pain and suffering from a subsequent fall. Of course, this refusal left the jury to again guess as to the actual source of O'Connell's exclusive damages. (10 AA 1992.)

As the Court is aware, a plaintiff bears the burden of proving both the fact, and the amount, of damage. *Yamaha Motor Co., U.S.A. v. Arnoult*, 114 Nev. 233, 955 P.2d 661, 671 (1998). Moreover, a plaintiff bears the burden of proof on medical causation. *Morsicato v. Sav-On Drug Stores, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 153, 157-58, 111 P. 3d. 1112 (2005).

Thus, O'Connell's refusal to apportion her damages required judgment in favor of Wynn, or alternatively a reduction of O'Connell's damages to zero. Despite this, the Majority again overlooked O'Connell's failure, falling back on a familiar

finding that "it was for the jury to assess the weight and credibility of the testimony." (Ex. 1 hereto at pg. 8.) Should O'Connell be permitted disregard her obligation to apportion damages and force the jury to speculate that her fall at Wynn was the source of all her alleged pain and suffering?

BRIEF FACTUAL OVERVIEW

O'Connell was awarded a \$240,000.00 judgment against Wynn for a slip and fall that occurred in Wynn's atrium in February of 2010. According to O'Connell, her fall was caused by a foreign substance on Wynn's floor. After falling, O'Connell refused medical assistance and spent the remainder of the day gambling at Wynn and another casino, returning home on her own accord. During a medical visit two days later, a doctor determined that O'Connell's only injuries from the fall were contusions (*i.e.*, bruising) on her right side. Despite this diagnosis, O'Connell spent the next five years visiting doctor after doctor and self-reporting an ever-expanding list of injuries and conditions that she claimed were related to her fall at Wynn.

After suing Wynn for one claim for negligence, O'Connell engaged in minimal discovery and disclosed no retained medical experts in support of her case. Moreover, O'Connell's only disclosures for her treating medical physicians were both untimely and deficient under Nevada's Rules of Civil Procedure. Despite this, O'Connell's case moved past summary judgment to trial.

A. O'Connell Provides No Evidence To Support Notice.

At trial, O'Connell admitted that she couldn't identify the substance she slipped in, speculating that it was a liquid spill, slightly greenish in color, and covered at least a seven-foot area of the floor in Wynn's atrium. (9 AA 1812-13.) Additionally, O'Connell believed that a three-foot section of the substance had begun to dry, become sticky, and accumulate dirty footprints. *Id.*

Regardless of what the green mystery substance actually was, O'Connell admitted that she had no evidence to show that Wynn caused it to be on the floor or that it had any advance knowledge of the condition before the time of her fall. (9 AA 1813.) Thus, O'Connell's claim against Wynn was based entirely upon an assertion that Wynn somehow had constructive notice of the green mystery substance.

However, O'Connell presented *no evidence* to support such a conclusion. She failed to present any evidence to demonstrate how long the substance had been on the floor before her fall and obviously has no expertise in establishing how long it would take for such substances to dry. O'Connell also presented no evidence demonstrating that liquid spills occurred frequently, or at all, in the area where she fell, or that the frequency of the inspections conducted by Wynn employees were somehow unreasonable.

Instead, O'Connell offered only her own unsubstantiated opinion that Wynn should have known about the mystery substance because of its estimated size and because, she believed, portions of it had begun to dry. However, O'Connell openly conceded that her attempted guesswork was based completely upon pure speculation. (9 AA 1813-14.)

As O'Connell was forced to concede, she has no knowledge or training to make her qualified to tell a finder of fact how long the green mystery substance was on the floor before her fall. *Id.* For all O'Connell knew, the substance was only on the floor a few seconds before the incident.

B. O'Connell Refuses To Apportion Her Alleged Damages.

O'Connell's evidentiary failures at trial did not end with her guesswork about Wynn's notice. Beyond providing no proof of Wynn's liability for her fall, O'Connell also failed to present sufficient evidence in support of her damages. At trial, O'Connell chose to forego any claim for the medical expenses she asserts were incurred as a result of the incident. Thus, the only damages O'Connell sought were for her alleged past and future pain and suffering.

Of course, Wynn cannot be held liable for pain and suffering that O'Connell cannot prove was related to her fall. It is O'Connell's burden to prove causation and damages with the weight of reliable evidence. By the same token, O'Connell also

had the burden to ensure that the jury was not being asked to award damages based upon any of O'Connell's preexisting conditions. However, O'Connell's own witnesses confirmed that she suffered from a myriad of preexisting conditions.

For example, O'Connell's treating physician testified that she suffered from degenerative disk disease of the lumbar and cervical spine that predated the incident at Wynn's property on February 8, 2010. (10 AA 1925-26.) O'Connell herself testified to having a previous back injury before the incident at Wynn's property. (9 AA 1706-07.) In addition, another of her physicians testified that O'Connell has arthritic and/or degenerative changes in her right knee that were unrelated to the incident at Wynn's property. *Id.* at 1869-70.

Furthermore, the uncontroverted evidence at trial established that O'Connell suffers from additional preexisting health issues and conditions, such as fibromyalgia, IBS, anxiety, depression, Ehler Danlos and Marfan syndrome. (9 AA 1728; 1730; 1744-45; 1751.) Despite this, O'Connell made no effort to apportion her damages at trial. Conceding her failure, O'Connell's counsel even argued that, "***I don't think there is any requirement for apportionment in this case.***" (10 AA 1992.) (emphasis added).

C. The District Court Rejects Wynn's Requests For Judgment As A Matter Of Law.

Owing to the obvious deficiencies in O'Connell's case for liability and damages, Wynn moved for judgment as a matter of law under NRCP 50(a) at the close of her case. (10 AA 1982.) However, citing O'Connell's testimony as the only evidence to support constructive knowledge, and agreeing that this evidence was "very, very" thin, the District Court rejected Wynn's arguments against O'Connell's case for liability. Additionally, the District Court also rejected Wynn's arguments against O'Connell's case for damages.

Left to guess about the source of O'Connell's green mystery substance, and the actual source of her alleged harm, the jury returned with a verdict in favor of O'Connell and eventually awarded her \$240,000.00 in damages. Following final judgment, Wynn renewed its motion for judgment as a matter of law but was denied. This appeal, and subsequent attached Order of Affirmance by the Court of Appeals, followed.

ARGUMENT

A. Wynn's Notice Cannot Be Evaluated Without Evidence Of Duration.

Wynn's duty to its guests is well-settled. As a landowner, Wynn "must exercise reasonable care not to subject others to an unreasonable risk of harm." *Moody v. Manny's Auto Repair*, 110 Nev. 320, 329, 871 P.2d 935, 941 (1994)

(quoting *Turpel v. Sayles*, 101 Nev. 35, 38, 692 P.2d 1290, 1292 (1985)). "A [property owner] must act as a reasonable person under all of the circumstances including the likelihood of injury to others, the probable seriousness of such injuries, and the burden of reducing or avoiding the risk." *Id.*; *Foster*, 128 Nev. at 781, 291 P.3d at 156.

As shown, O'Connell alleges she slipped on a foreign substance. Thus, Wynn may only be held liable if it had actual or constructive notice of the condition and failed to remedy it. *Sprague*, 109 Nev. at 250, 849 P.2d at 322. O'Connell conceded that she had no evidence that Wynn created the foreign substance or had actual notice of it before her fall. As O'Connell's counsel made clear, her only theory of liability is that Wynn had constructive knowledge. Therefore, O'Connell had the burden to prove constructive notice at trial; which she clearly failed to do.

1. O'Connell Cannot Prove Constructive Knowledge Under The Only Standard Articulated By This Court.

While the Majority ignored it, this Court's precedence already mandates evidence of a condition's duration to support constructive notice. In *Sprague v. Lucky Stores*, the Court ruled that constructive notice requires sufficient evidence for a jury to find "that Lucky knew that produce was *frequently* on the floor, ... [or] ... *virtually continual* debris on the produce department floor" 109 Nev. at 251, 849 P.2d at 323 (emphasis added). Only then, would Lucky be "on constructive

notice that, at any time, a hazardous condition might exist which would result in an injury to Lucky customers." *Id.*; see also, *FGA, Inc. v. Giglio*, 128 Nev. Adv. Rep. 26, 278 P.3d 490, n. 5 (2012); *Eldorado Club v. Graff*, 78 Nev. 507, 511, 377 P.2d 174, 176 (1962).

However, O'Connell admittedly presented no evidence at trial that the green mystery substance was a frequent or continual condition at Wynn. Indeed, O'Connell failed to establish how long the substance was on Wynn's floor, what the substance was, or where it came from. During the trial, O'Connell presented *nothing* about the general conditions in Wynn's atrium or any facts about the condition, or cleanliness, of its floors. While O'Connell testified that she thought the substance was water from Wynn's planter beds, she admitted that this was only a guess – a guess that was disproven by the evidence.

Thus, the record was *completely devoid* of any information that could have led the jury to conclude that the green mystery substance was a frequent or continual

condition at Wynn. As such, Wynn should have been granted judgment in its favor as a matter of law.¹

2. O'Connell Cannot Prove Constructive Knowledge Under Any Standard For Constructive Notice.

Aware that she could not meet the specific limitations of *Sprague*, O'Connell argued for an expanded standard of constructive knowledge during trial. Relying upon centuries-old case law involving dried banana peels and unrelated authority addressing notice of frequent spills on the floors of fast food restaurants, O'Connell claimed that Wynn could be held liable if the jury found the green mystery substance had been left on the floor for an unreasonable amount of time.²

While this Court has yet to articulate such a standard, O'Connell's move to expand *Sprague* cannot save her case. Indeed, O'Connell's case fails under *any*

¹ Relying on Nevada cases setting forth the general duty of businesses to exercise "reasonable care to its patrons," the Majority summarily concluded that "under Nevada caselaw constructive notice can be based on the *circumstances of the case*" (Ex. 1 at pg. 3) (emphasis added). However, the Majority does not address the specific limitations of *Sprague* or the universally-accepted fact that such "circumstances" must include evidence of duration.

² Ignoring even O'Connell's authority cited in her briefing, the Majority relies upon a case involving the reasonableness of a casino when evicting a patron and the "open and obvious" *defense* doctrine. (Ex. 1 hereto at pg. 5 *citing Billingsley v. Stockmen's Hotel, Inc.*, 111 Nev. 1033, 901 P.2d 144 (1995); *Foster v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 128 Nev. 773, 291 P.3d 150 (2012)).

standard of constructive notice. Again, O'Connell's only "evidence" was her own testimony that the green mystery substance was about seven feet in size, a portion of it had begun to dry and become sticky, and collect dirty footprints. Wynn's porter also testified that it appeared to be like "honey for pancakes."³ This testimony formed the exclusive support for O'Connell's claim to constructive knowledge – a fact noted by the District Court and the Majority's Opinion. (Ex. 1 hereto at pgs. 4-5.)

The failure of O'Connell's case is clear and well-articulated by the Dissent. O'Connell did not, and could not, rely on the "mode of operation" approach to infer legal notice by Wynn. *Id.* at pgs. 18-19. "O'Connell was thus required to produce affirmative evidence that Wynn had actual or constructive notice of the hazardous substance. She didn't." *Id.* at pg. 19. As the Dissent agrees, "[t]his isn't some revolutionary idea. Most courts require some affirmative evidence proving how long a foreign substance was on the floor before notice can be legally inferred, and mere proof of the existence of a foreign substance does not itself create such notice." *Id.*; *see generally* case law cited at pgs. 19-21 of Ex. 1 hereto; *see also* Restatement 2d (Torts) § 343 (Reporter's Note, Clause (a)) ("Where the condition is temporary in its

³ Struggling with language barriers, Wynn's porter also testified that she didn't see the substance at all.

nature, this burden may require proof that it has existed for a sufficient length of time to permit the inference that reasonable care would have led to its discovery.") (emphasis added); *Cash v. Winn-Dixie Montgomery, Inc.*, 418 So.2d 874, 875 (Ala. 1982).

Because O'Connell "presented no evidence at all providing the jury with any foundation" to determine how long the substance was on Wynn's floor, "she's doing nothing more than inviting the jury to take a guess." (Ex. 1 hereto at pg. 21.) The danger in the Majority's standard is apparent:

If the sheer existence of the hazard alone, with nothing more having been established, is enough to permit a jury to infer everything else required to establish liability, then every Nevada business is indeed now the insurer for every hazard on the premises, knowable or unknowable, whether there was enough notice or enough time for the business to do something about it or not.

Id. at pgs. 21-22. As such, O'Connell's judgment should be overturned and judgment granted in favor of Wynn.

B. Absent Apportionment, O'Connell's Case For Causation And Damages Fails.

Again, the fundamental flaws with O'Connell's claim against Wynn do not end with liability. O'Connell's case for damages also fails as a matter of law. As shown, O'Connell's only damages at trial were for past and future pain and suffering. The undisputed testimony proved that O'Connell suffers from various

preexisting conditions and suffered from a subsequent fall. Yet, O'Connell knowingly made no effort to distinguish between her pain and suffering from the fall and her pain and suffering caused by her preexisting or otherwise unrelated injuries and conditions.

As the plaintiff, O'Connell bears the burden of proof on medical causation.⁴ *Morsicato v. Sav-On Drug Stores, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 153, 157-58, 111 P. 3d 1112 (2005); *Rowe v. Munye*, 702 N.W.2d 729, 730 (Minn. 2005) ("In a negligence action, the plaintiff generally has the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, damages caused by the defendant.").

"When an accident involves aggravation of preexisting injuries, [courts] require[] the defendant to pay only for the damages he or she caused over and above the consequences that would have occurred from the preexisting injury if the accident had not occurred." *Rowe*, 702 N.W.2d at 736; *see also Reichert v. Vegholm*,

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