IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

WYNN LAS VEGAS, LLC, d/b/a WYNN
LAS VEGAS, a Nevada Limited Liability
Company,

Appellant,

vs.

YVONNE O'CONNELL, an individual,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No.: 70583

Consolidated With Case No. 71787
Electronically Filed
Dec 13 2018 10:58 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

Appeal from Judgment on Jury Verdict entered December 15, 2015,
Order Denying Post-Trial Motions entered May 25, 2016,
and all orders made appealable thereby
District Court Case No. A-12-671221-C, Eighth Judicial District Court of Nevada

**RESPONDENT YVONNE O'CONNELL'S
RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Brian D. Nettles, Esq. (7462)

I. ARGUMENT

A. **CONTRARY TO DEFENDANT’S ASSERTION, NEVADA LAW CLEARLY PROVIDES THAT A PLAINTIFF MAY ESTABLISH CONSTRUCTIVE NOTICE BY PROFFERING EVIDENCE THAT THE HAZARD EXISTED FOR AN UNREASONABLE LENGTH OF TIME BEFORE THE FALL.**

Defendant Wynn Las Vegas, LLC, d/b/a Wynn Las Vegas (“Defendant”)¹ argues that Plaintiff Yvonne O’Connell (“Plaintiff”) seeks to “expand” this Court’s holding in *Sprague*² to allow a finding of constructive notice based upon evidence that the hazard on which Plaintiff slipped had existed for an unreasonable length of time. *Petition*, 12. Because Plaintiff “presented no evidence at trial that the [substance] was a frequent or continual condition at Wynn[]” as *Sprague* describes, Defendant claims that it “should have been granted summary judgment in its favor as a matter of law.” *Id.* at 11-13 (emphasis added).

Defendants argument is incorrect, of course, because *Sprague* simply introduced a new means of showing constructive notice in addition to the standard that had existed for decades before *Sprague*—the exact standard that both the District Court and the Court of Appeals majority invoked, and the exact standard Plaintiff argues here. *See* Appellant’s Appendix, Vol. 17, Part 1, 3476-77 (the

¹ Pursuant to NRAP 28(d), to promote clarity, the parties are referred to herein by their respective designations in the District Court, *i.e.*, “Plaintiff” and “Defendant.”

² *Sprague v. Lucky Stores, Inc.*, 109 Nev. 247 (1993).

Sprague standard “is not the only way of proving constructive notice[]”; “Proof that a foreign substance on the floor had existed for such a length of time that the proprietor in the exercise of ordinary care should have known of it, is another way of proving constructive notice.”); *see also Exhibit 1, 5* (“Thus, [the Court of Appeals majority] conclude[s] there was sufficient evidence that the substance had been on the floor for a certain length of time, which would be a circumstance to consider in determining whether [Defendant] should have discovered it.”).³

1. Plaintiff’s Argument Is Not For An “Expan[sion]” Of *Sprague*; Rather, *Sprague* Itself Was An Expansion Of The Constructive Notice Standard Plaintiff Invokes, Which Pre-Existed *Sprague* By At Least 30 Years.

Defendant’s argument gets Nevada law exactly backwards, arguing that Plaintiff seeks to “expand *Sprague*” to permit Plaintiff to establish constructive notice through evidence that the hazard existed for an unreasonable length of time prior to her fall. *Petition*, 12-13. Contrary to Defendant’s assertions, *Sprague* itself expanded the definition of constructive notice that Plaintiff asserts here—a definition that had existed for at least 30 years before *Sprague* was decided in 1993.

//

³ Even Judge Tao, in dissenting from the Court of Appeals majority, acknowledged that constructive notice may be shown in this way, *i.e.*, that “[i]f a business created the hazard itself, or if the hazard had been there long enough that a reasonable business should have known about it with enough time to do something about it, that’s on the business.” *Exhibit 1, 17* (Tao, J., dissenting) (emphasis added).

Far from providing the only path to constructive notice, as Defendant asserts, *Sprague* instead introduced an additional means for a plaintiff to establish constructive notice.

It is evident in *Sprague* that the “virtually continual hazard” standard defined in that case for establishing constructive notice was unknown until *Sprague* was decided. This Court stated that “[i]n connection with the summary judgment motion, deposition testimony was introduced before the district court that Lucky’s produce section is a virtually continual hazard.” *Sprague v. Lucky Stores, Inc.*, 109 Nev. 247, 249 (1993). Despite the introduction of this evidence of a “virtually continual hazard,” the District Court “granted Lucky’s summary judgment motion, finding that Sprague had shown neither that Lucky was responsible for the grape’s presence on the floor nor that Lucky had actual or constructive knowledge of the grape’s presence on the floor.” *Id.* (emphases added).

This Court reversed, introducing and defining for the first time the “virtually continual hazard” standard for constructive notice. *Id.* at 251 (“A reasonable jury could have determined that the virtually continual debris on the produce department floor put Lucky on constructive notice that, at any time, a hazardous condition might exist which would result in an injury to Lucky customers.”) (emphases added).

Thus, until *Sprague* was decided in 1993, the “virtually continual hazard” standard for constructive notice had not been recognized under Nevada law. *Id.* at 249, 251.

However, the concept of “constructive notice” has been part of Nevada’s premises liability law since at least 1962, more than 30 years before 1993’s *Sprague* decision.⁴ Thus, for at least 30 years prior to 1993, a non-*Sprague* standard for establishing constructive notice existed, as many plaintiffs sued for—and prevailed upon—premises liability claims that (1) required a showing of “constructive notice”; but (2) could not yet be based upon the “virtually continual hazard” standard, which would not be announced until 1993.

That non-*Sprague* standard, of course, is the standard Plaintiff invokes here—and which both the District Court and the Court of Appeals readily recognized and applied—namely, that a Plaintiff may establish constructive notice through (1) evidence that the hazard existed on the floor for an unreasonable length of time prior

⁴ In 1962, this Court decided *Wagon Wheel Saloon & Gambling Hall, Inc. v. Mavrogan*, 78 Nev. 126 (1962) and *Eldorado Club, Inc. v. Graff*, 78 Nev. 507 (1962) (“On the other hand, if the presence of the foreign substance was due to the acts of persons other than agents or employees of the defendant, liability may be found only on proof that the defendant had either actual or constructive notice thereof.”) (citing *Wagon Wheel*, 78 Nev. at 126; 61 A.L.R.2d 6, 69).

to the fall; *and/or* (2) evidence that the defendant failed to act reasonably in inspecting and/or maintaining the premises prior to the fall.⁵

That standard is not an “expan[sion]” of *Sprague*, but rather is a separate and alternative (and vastly more common) means for establishing constructive notice where no “virtually continual hazard” exists. *Cf.* Appellant’s Appendix, Vol. 17, Part 1, 3476-77 (“Proof that a foreign substance on the floor had existed for such a length of time that the proprietor in the exercise of ordinary care should have known of it, is another way of proving constructive notice.”).

While neither this Court nor the Court of Appeals has expressly stated that precept prior to this case,⁶ the United States District Court for the District of Nevada

⁵ The first method for establishing constructive notice, a showing that the hazard existed for an “unreasonable length of time,” is a subset of the second method, the overall “reasonableness” of the premises owner’s actions prior to the fall. *Exhibit 1* (Order Of Affirmance by Court of Appeals), 3.

Thus, a showing that the hazard existed for an unreasonable length of time prior to the fall is one means of showing that the premises owner failed to act reasonably—but there are additional means of making that showing, *e.g.*, showing that inspections were not conducted, or were conducted in an unreasonable manner or frequency under the circumstances. *Id.* at 6 (jury finding of constructive notice may be “based on the circumstances of the partially dried substance and [Defendant]’s lack of evidence of its inspections[.]”) (emphasis added).

⁶ The Court of Appeals in its Order Of Affirmance here expressly acknowledged this standard: “Thus, we conclude that there was sufficient evidence that the substance had been on the floor for a certain length of time, which would be a circumstance to consider in determining whether [Defendant] should have discovered it.” *Exhibit 1*, 5 (emphasis added).

—sitting in diversity jurisdiction and therefore applying Nevada substantive law—
has enunciated this precise standard repeatedly and consistently:

- i “Alternatively, Plaintiff could prove constructive notice through evidence that the foreign substance was on the floor for an unreasonable length of time before the incident such that [the defendant] should have known about it.” *Rios v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 2016 WL 5661868, *2 (D. Nev. Sept. 29, 2016) (citing *Eldorado Club, Inc.*, 78 Nev. at 511 (“It would be grossly unfair to demand immediate awareness of new peril.”));⁷
- i “A plaintiff can show constructive notice by demonstrating that the dangerous condition existed long enough that it would have been discovered had the business exercised reasonable care.” *Staples v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 2015 WL 476172, *3 (D. Nev. Feb. 4, 2015);
- i “There is no evidence that [the defendant] knew that substances like this were frequently on its floors, or that the substance ordinarily creates a hazard, or that it was present for any substantial period of time. [] [The] evidence weighs against a constructive notice showing, since it provides circumstantial evidence that the hazard did not exist long enough to put [the defendant] on constructive notice.” *Morton v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 2013 WL 557309, *4 (D. Nev. Feb. 12, 2013); and

//

//

//

//

⁷ As these federal cases show, this Court’s holding in *Eldorado Club* that “[i]t would be grossly unfair to demand immediate awareness of new peril[]” of necessity entails a corollary—*i.e.*, that it is not unfair to demand awareness of a peril that is not new. *Eldorado Club, Inc.*, 78 Nev. at 511; *cf. Rios*, 2016 WL at *2.

- i “If the substance is on the floor through acts of third persons, the time element to establish knowledge or notice to the proprietor is a material factor. The case law strongly supports Defendant’s argument that one-to-four minutes is too short a time to attribute constructive knowledge of a slipping hazard to a retailer. Four minutes (the longest time period supported by the evidence) is too short to support a finding of constructive knowledge for a small hazard such as a sausage.” *Esprecion v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 2016 WL 4926424, *2-3 (D. Nev. Sept. 24, 2016).

The consistency with which courts derive this principle from Nevada Supreme Court precedent is not surprising, given that, as explained below, the duty of landowners as defined by this Court logically requires that a plaintiff be permitted to establish constructive notice by proffering evidence that the hazard existed for an “unreasonable” length of time prior to the fall.

2. Given A Landowner’s Duty To Act “Reasonably,” Nevada Supreme Court Precedent Logically Requires That A Plaintiff Be Permitted To Establish Constructive Notice By Proffering Evidence That The Hazard Existed For An “Unreasonable” Length Of Time Prior To The Fall.

Defendant notes that Plaintiff “claimed that [Defendant] could be held liable if the jury found the green mystery substance had been left on the floor for an unreasonable length of time[,]” which Defendant asserts is an incorrect statement of Nevada law because “this Court has yet to articulate such a standard.” *Petition*, 12. However, courts have consistently acknowledged this method of showing constructive notice (despite no explicit articulation of that standard by this Court)

for one simple reason—that conclusion is logically mandated by this Court’s precedents in premises liability cases.

It is hornbook law in Nevada that “a business owes its patrons a duty to keep the premises in a reasonably safe condition for use.” *Sprague*, 109 Nev. at 250 (citing *Asmussen v. New Golden Hotel Co.*, 80 Nev. 260, 262 (1964)) (emphasis added). This is the “duty of reasonable care.” *Foster v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 128 Nev. 773, 780-81 (2012) (emphasis added).

Thus, under Nevada law,

[p]roprietors, like all other persons, have an obligation to act reasonably towards other persons. [. . .] [T]he overriding factor is whether the land owner or occupier has acted reasonably toward the plaintiff under the circumstances.

Billingsley v. Stockmen’s Hotel, Inc., 111 Nev. 1033, 1037 (1995) (emphases added).

As these seminal cases demonstrate, the fundamental inquiry in a premises liability case is whether the landowner (and/or the plaintiff) acted “reasonably under the circumstances.” *Foster*, 128 Nev. at 775.

//

//

//

//

Because the “overriding factor” in premises liability analysis under Nevada law is now “reasonableness” rather than status or other factors,⁸ negligence is almost always a jury question, as the reasonableness of particular conduct under the circumstances “should generally be submitted to the trier of fact.” *Sims v. Gen. Tel. & Elecs.*, 107 Nev. 516, 522 (1991), *overruled on other grounds by Tucker v. Action Equip. & Scaffold Co.*, 113 Nev. 1349 (1997). The prerogative of the jury to make findings of fact regarding “reasonableness” is well-established, and the reasonableness *vel non* of particular conduct may be decided as a matter of law only where “no reasonable jury could reach a contrary conclusion.” *Lee v. GNLV Corp.*,

⁸ This Court provided a thorough and compelling history of the evolution of the landowner’s duty to entrants in *Foster*, 128 Nev. at 774-75 (“In this opinion, we examine the evolution of a landowner’s duty of care to entrants on the landowner’s property and refine the current status of that duty.”).

As the *Foster* decision clearly articulated, the essential inquiry in assigning negligence (and/or contributory negligence by a plaintiff) is the reasonableness of the parties’ respective conduct. *Id.* (finding that questions of fact remained as to “whether [the defendant] acted reasonably under the circumstances by allowing a pallet to impede [the plaintiff]’s path through the aisle without warning, and whether [the plaintiff] failed to exercise reasonable self-protection in encountering the pallet.”). *Id.* (emphases added).

Thus, Nevada law has abandoned the traditional categories of entrants onto land and varying duties of landowners based on such status, “in favor of upholding the general duty of reasonable care.” *Id.* at 775.

117 Nev. 291, 297 (2001) (citing PROSSER AND KEETON ON THE LAW OF TORTS § 37, 237 (W. Page Keeton *et al.* eds., 5th ed. 1984)).

In light of the foregoing, it is logically necessary under Nevada law that evidence that a hazard existed on the floor for an unreasonable length of time prior to a plaintiff's fall is sufficient to establish the constructive notice required for a jury to find breach of the landowner's duty.⁹ As the Court of Appeals noted in this case, "under Nevada caselaw constructive notice can be based on the circumstances of the case, which are appropriate to consider in light of whether a business owner exercised its duty of reasonable care to its patrons." *Exhibit 1*, 3 (citing *Foster*, 128 Nev. at 781-82). One of those circumstances, the Court of Appeals concludes, was "sufficient evidence that the substance had been on the floor for a certain length of time[.]" *Id.* at 5.

It is crucial to note the interplay between the landowner's duty and a jury finding of constructive notice based on evidence of the duration of the hazard. As stated above, Defendant "owe[d] [Plaintiff] a duty to keep the premises in a reasonably safe condition for use." *Sprague*, 109 Nev. at 250 (emphases added). Whether Defendant's efforts in this regard were "reasonable" is a question of fact for the jury. *Sims*, 107 Nev. at 522.

⁹ Further, the Court of Appeals noted that "Nevada caselaw demonstrates that whether a business had constructive notice is an issue for the trier of fact." *Exhibit 1*, 3-4 (citing *Sprague*, 109 Nev. at 250).

Logically, a finding by the jury that the hazard on which Plaintiff fell existed for “an *unreasonable* length of time” prior to the fall *by definition* equates to a finding that Defendant breached its duty to act “reasonably” in “maintaining the premises.” *Sprague*, 109 Nev. at 250. Many courts, including the Court of Appeals here, have stated this principle in terms of what the landlord “should have” discovered *in the exercise of reasonable care*. *Exhibit 1, 5*.

Thus, a jury finding that the pre-accident duration of the hazard was “unreasonable” is *incompatible* with a finding that Defendant acted “reasonably” in maintaining the premises. By definition, if Defendant acted “reasonably” in inspecting and maintaining the premises, as Nevada law requires, no such hazard could exist on its premises for an “unreasonable” length of time.¹⁰

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